RECEIVED

Feb 16 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Honorable James O. Spence, Master-in-Equity for Lexington County

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000872

First Reliance Bank,..... Respondent,

v.

Charles E. Bishop, Brett D. Blanks, BCM of Lexington, LLC
and Branch Banking and Trust Company of South Carolina, Defendants,

Of whom Charles E. Bishop is the..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Paul B. Ferrara, III
SC Bar No. 70511
8887 Old University Blvd., Ste. 201
North Charleston, SC 29406
(843) 569-5511
Attorney for Appellant

February 16, 2021

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN NOT ORDERING A NEW APPRAISAL?
- II. DOES DUE PROCESS REQUIRE THIS MATTER MUST BE REVIEWED BY THIS COURT?
- III. SHOULD RESPONDENT BE ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS MATTER?

STATEMENT OF CASE

On January 5, 2012, Honorable James O. Spence issued a Judgment of Foreclosure sale on three parcels in Lexington county known as TMS # 003418-01-008, TMS # 003418-01-009, and TMS # 003418-01-007. (R. at 1-11) Thereafter, Judge Spence, on January 17, 2013, issued an order appointing appraisers “to view and value the subject property” (R. at 15) On March 5, 2013, the return of the appraisers were filed with the Court. (R. at 16) The appraisers were directed to use the standards codified at S.C. Code 29-3-680 (R. at 15) The report of the appraisers valued TMS# 003418-01-008 at One Million Forty Thousand Dollars (\$1,040,000.00) (R. at 39-40) Mr. George McMaster, the attorney for Charles E. Bishop, filed a timely appeal of the return of the appraisers and asserted the determination of value was incomplete. (R. at 20-33) An appeal hearing was conducted on April 10, 2014 (R. at 82-99). The Court took the matter under advisement. On June 18, 2014, the trial court issued a letter to counsel and advised each side to submit proposed orders. (R. at 49-50) The letter from the trial court was served on June 27, 2014. (R. at 51) On July 2, 2014, George McMaster, counsel for Charles E. Bishop, was placed on interim suspension. (R. at 19) Peyre T. Lumpkin, Esq. was appointed as receiver pursuant to the order of suspension. (R. at 19) On July 16, 2014, receiver Lumpkin sent a letter addressed to Mr. Bishop at 628 Haskell Road, Gilbert, South Carolina 29054 advising him that Mr. McMaster had been placed on interim suspension. (R. at 52-33) On July 15, 2014 George McMaster advised First Reliance Bank counsel, James Bradley, Esq., that Mr. McMaster was placed on interim suspension. (R. at 54) On July 17, 2014, the trial court advised that proposed orders were due no later than July 31, 2014. (R. at 55) On July 28, 2014, Mr. Lumpkin received a notice from the United States Post Office that the July 16, 2014 letter addressed to Mr. Bishop was returned and marked “return to sender, not deliverable at this

address, unable to forward.” (R. at 56). On July 31, 2014, at 3:46 p.m. Mr. Bradley’s office submitted a proposed order to the Court that ultimately became the final order affirming appraisal in this case (R. at 57) At 4:14 p.m. the same day, Attorney Lumpkin advised the trial court that he did not represent Mr. McMaster’s clients, but was merely a receiver of the file. (R. at 57) Further, Mr. Lumpkin advised the trial court that he sent a letter to Mr. Bishop giving notice that McMaster had been suspended on July 16, 2014. (R. at 57) On October 22, 2014, Judge Spence inquired of Attorney Lumpkin whether Mr. Master’s client contacted the receiver to obtain a copy of the file. (R. at 58) The receiver advised the court that “ We still have the Bishop file in our possession. He has not responded to our notice letter.” (R. at 58-59) Mr. Lumpkin did not advise the Court that the notice sent to Mr. Bishop was returned as undeliverable, despite having the return mail in his file. (R. at 58-59) On October 23, 2014, Judge Spence advised, via email to Receiver Lumpkin and Mr. Bradley, that since it has been over 60 days he will sign Mr. Bradley’s proposed order. (R. at 58) On October 27, 2014 Judge Spence issued the order affirming the appraisal panel return. (R. at 20-33) Further, Judge Spence directed First Reliance Bank’s counsel to submit a new deficiency order and serve the newly issued order on all parties. (R. at 33) On November 26, 2014, the trial court issued an amended order of deficiency judgment on the appraisal in the amount of \$508,104.69. (R. at 34-36) On December 5, 2014, the Clerk only served a copy of the amended order of deficiency judgment on appraisal to Mr. Bradley and Mr. McMaster. (R. at 36) In February or March of 2015, the Receiver published notice of Mr. Master’s suspension in The Columbia Star, a newspaper in Richland County. On April 30, 2020 First Reliance Bank filed a transcript of judgment in Lexington County. (R. at 60-62) On May 5, 2020, First Reliance Bank filed the previously filed transcript in Charleston County (R. at 63-65) On May 15, 2020, the transcript of

judgment was served upon Charles E. Bishop, via united states mail, advising him that there was a judgment in the amount of \$508,104.69 against him. (R. at 66-69) On June 10, 2020 this appeal followed. (R. at 70-73).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises from an appeal of an appraisal concerning a foreclosure of three parcels located at 1605 North Lake Drive in Columbia: TMS # 003418-01-008; TMS # 003418-01-009; and TMS # 003418-01-007. The uncontroverted trial testimony established appraiser Petty and two other appraisers did not fully value the subject property and merely placed a token value on the “excess land” of \$25,000 in his original sworn report. The appraisers did not visit the property and had an old plat that did not reveal the total acreage and the true characteristics of independence and access to the property. The total acreage valued by the appraisers was 3.61 but the 3 mortgaged parcels totaled 4.11 acres. The result was a \$475,000 variance from the original value of \$1,040,00.00.

At the appraisal rights appeal hearing, Judge Spence heard uncontroverted testimony from appraiser Petty in which he clearly stated “he made a mistake” concerning the value of the property that he was ordered to appraise. (R. at 92, Tr Pg. 37 LL. 10-15) In short, the appraisers failed to completely value all three parcels of property as identified in the notice of sale. As a result, the total acreage was incorrect and 2 additional parcels: TMS 003418-01-009 and 003418-01-007 were not fully valued. At the hearing Mr. Petty testified that an error was made and that 3.61 acres was valued rather than 4.11. (R. at 96, Tr. Pg. 53 LL. 14-19) Comparing Trial Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 4 revealed the extent of the error. (R.at 96, Tr. Pg. 53, LL 24 Tr. 54, LL 2; R. at 105 and 107) Moreover, appraiser Petty testified that if they had the correct plat and all information contained in Exhibit 5, the appraisal would have been done correctly. (See R. at 94;

Tr. Pg. 47 LL. 5-10) Moreover, Mr. Petty testified that the value of the excess parcels was classified as “excess land” and all appraisers assumed there was no access. As a result, the appraisers placed a nominal or token value of \$25,000 on the excess land. Importantly, it was uncontroverted that the appraisers did not reference the most accurate plat of the property, Exhibit 4 of the trial, at the time of valuation. (R. at 94; Tr. Pg. 47, LL. 1-4; R. at 107) Furthermore a careful review of the return of appraisers to equity court revealed that only one parcel TMS #003418-01-008 was completely valued. (R.at 39) The rear or “excess back land” was given a value but the value was only \$25,000, as it was assumed to be non- accessible land that supplemented TMS # 003418-01-008 and had no independent use. Here, it is uncontested that the foreclosed property to be valued was three parcels not just one or two. Appraiser Petty testified that TMS 003418-01-009 and 003418-01-007 had independent access and were independently usable, but the appraisers were unaware of that at the time of the appraisal. Appraiser Petty further provided uncontroverted testimony that the two parcels, considering the independent access and usability, were worth \$500,000, rather than \$25,000. The testimony established that there was a variance of \$475,000 (R. at 92; Tr. Pg. 37, LL. 13-15)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an action in equity, tried by a judge alone, the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of evidence. *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976); *Doe v. Clark*, 318 S.C. 274,457 S.E.2d 336 (1995).

LAW/ANALYSIS

S.C. Code Ann. 29-3-750 controls the Master’s authority in the appeal. The master's scope of review is limited to either approval or disapproval of the appraisal. See *Peoples Fed.*

S&L v. Myrtle Beach Group, 302 S.C. 223, 394 S.E. (2d) 849 (Ct. App. 1990). S.C. Code Ann. 29-3-770. Moreover, Section 29-3-720 provides: “[T]he board of appraisers as so constituted shall proceed to view and value the **mortgaged property** and all or a majority thereof shall make a sworn return within thirty days from their appointment of the true value of the property as of the date of sale, taking into consideration sale value, cost and replacement value of improvements, income production and all other proper elements which, in their discretion, enter into the determination of **true value**.” S.C. Code Ann. 29-3-720 (emphasis added) The report of the appraisers is quasi-judicial and the only discretion allowed to the court by the statute is to order a reappraisal in which event the court is authorized to impose such terms, such as the method of appraisal, as it might in its discretion deem equitable. *Peoples*, at 230.

ARGUMENT

I. **THE MASTER ABUSED HIS DISCRETION BY NOT RECOGNIZING THAT THE BOARD OF APPRAISER’S REPORT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH S.C. CODE ANN. 29-3-720.**

In this case, S.C. Code Ann. 29-3-720 controlled the task assigned to the appraisers to value the mortgaged property to determine the true value. The mortgaged property, as established by the Order of Sale, contained three parcels: TMS # 003418-01-008; TMS # 003418-01-009; and TMS # 003418-01-007; however, the filed report only contained the value of TMS# 003418-01-008 and a portion of excess land. In any event, the appraisal is clearly flawed in that the mortgaged premises totaled 4.11 acres and the appraisers report merely valued 3.61. Moreover, the appraisal report was further flawed in that the appraisers failed to recognize that the two non-appraised parcels were independent of TMS # 003418-01-007 and had their own legal access notwithstanding TMS # 003418-01-007. The testimony of Mr. Petty was unequivocal on that point and not challenged with any contradictory testimony. (R. at 84, Tr. Pg. 67, LL. 21-23)

The trial testimony was that trial exhibit 2 was the plat that the panel of appraisers used to determine the value of the subject parcels. (R. at 94; Tr. Pg. 45, LL 10-17; R. at 105) Trial exhibit 2 did not contain the entirety of the 3 mortgaged parcels: TMS # 003418-01-008; TMS # 003418-01-009; and TMS # 003418-01-007. Importantly, appraiser Petty further testified that the board of appraisers did not know that there was an additional .5 acres missing at the time of the appraisal. Trial Exhibit 4 reveals the total acreage to be 4.11 acres and this is the plat that should have been used to assist the appraisers in determining the value. (R. at 84; Tr. Pg. 8, LL. 3-14; R. at 107)

Further, the trial testimony established that S.C Code 29-3-730 was not followed by the appraisers as they failed to view the property to determine its value. S.C Code 29-3-730 requires the appraisers “to view and value the property . . .” The trial testimony established that the trial exhibit 2 was used to value the property and the access via Beekeeper Court was unknown to the appraisers. Mr. Petty testified that he only realized that Beekeeper Court provided access after reviewing the plat which was trial exhibit 5 and the aerial photo that was trial exhibit 6. (R at 87; Tr. Pg. 20, LL. 21-Pg. 23, LL. 23). This realization by the appraisers was after the report of appraisers was filed. Clearly had the appraisers visited the property, they would have realized that there were 3 separate parcels and each had independent access to North Lake Drive via Beekeeper Court. The aerial photos presented clear evidence that the excess land had access via Beekeeper Court. However, the testimony of Mr. Petty, and all reasonable inferences therefrom, established that the appraisers never visited the property prior to making a sworn statement of valuation. Additionally, the Master-in-Equity had a duty to ensure that S.C Code 29-3-730 was complied with and to ensure that the appraisers followed their directives per the statute. The Master further had a duty to make appropriate findings of fact and conclusions of law, and any

inference therefrom, in the final order. *See S.C.R.C.P. 52* Otherwise, any dereliction of this duty results in an abuse of discretion. Thus, as it is clear from the trial testimony and exhibits presented, the appraisers did not visit or view the property. As such, the Master should have held that the appraisal statute was not complied with.

In conclusion the board of appraisers failed to comply with their directive, as codified at S.C. Code 29-3-730, "to view and value the property" and as such, a new appraisal must be ordered per *Peoples Federal Savings and Loan Ass'n*. The above mistake by the Master-in-equity was an abuse of discretion and the trial court's order must be reversed and remanded for a new appraisal.

II. THE RECEIVER VIOLATED MR. BISHOP'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS AND DUE PROCESS REQUIRES THIS MATTER MUST BE REVIEWED BY THIS COURT.

Appellant is aware that Respondent, First Reliance Bank, will assert that this case must not be allowed to be reviewed, on appeal, based upon lack of jurisdiction considering the appeal was filed years after the judgment was issued. However, procedural due process demands that the Master-in-Equity's decision be reviewed based on lack of notice.

"Procedural due process imposes constraints on governmental decisions which deprive individuals of liberty or property interests within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth or Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution." *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm'n*, 376 S.C. 165, 171, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008). "It is fundamental that no judgment or order affecting the rights of a party to the cause shall be made or rendered without notice to the party whose rights are to be affected." *Universal Benefits, Inc. v. McKinney*, 349 S.C. 179, 183, 561 S.E.2d 659, 661 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting *Tryon Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Phelps*, 307 S.C. 361, 362, 415 S.E.2d 397, 398 (1992)). "The requirements of due process not only

include notice, but also include an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review.” *Id.*

Appellant Bishop did not have notice of the judgment and orders affecting his rights, an opportunity to be meaningfully heard related to these orders and judgment, or the necessary judicial review at the time the amended deficiency order was issued. Appellant Bishop was not afforded proper due process after July 2, 2014, when Mr. McMaster was suspended from the practice of law. Although the South Carolina Supreme Court appointed a Receiver to take possession of Mr. McMaster’s files, the Receiver did not represent Appellants and did not appropriately inform Appellants of Mr. McMaster’s suspension or the need for them to obtain new counsel. Pursuant to Rule 31 of the Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement, Receiver shall:

(1) Take custody of the lawyer's active and closed files and trust, escrow, operating and any other law office accounts. The lawyer shall cooperate with the receiver and any attorney appointed to assist the receiver and shall comply with requests to take specific action regarding the client files and accounts. The chair or vice chair may issue such orders as may be necessary to assist the receiver in obtaining custody over such files and accounts, to include orders compelling the lawyer or a third party to take specific action regarding the files and accounts. The willful failure to comply with such an order may be punished as a contempt of the Supreme Court. A party who wishes to challenge such an order must immediately seek review of the order by petition to the Supreme Court;

(2) Notify each client in a pending matter, and in the discretion of the receiver, in any other matter, at the client's address shown in the file, by first class mail, of the client's right to obtain any papers, money or other property to which the client is entitled and the time and place at which the papers, money or other property may be obtained, calling attention to any urgency in obtaining the papers, money or other property;

(3) Publish, in a newspaper of general circulation in the county or counties in which the lawyer resided or engaged in any substantial practice of law, once a week for three consecutive weeks, notice of the discontinuance or interruption of the lawyer's law practice. The notice shall include the name and address of the lawyer whose practice has been discontinued or interrupted; the time, date and

location where clients may pick up their files; and the name, address and telephone number of the receiver. The notice shall also be mailed, by first class mail, to any errors and omissions insurer or other entity having reason to be informed of the discontinuance or interruption of the law practice;

(4) Release to each client the papers, money or other property to which the client is entitled. Before releasing the property, the receiver shall obtain a receipt from the client for the property;

(5) With the consent of the client, file notices, motions or pleadings on behalf of the client where jurisdictional time limits are involved and other legal counsel has not yet been obtained; and

(6) Perform any other acts directed in the order of receivership.

In this case, the Receiver failed to appropriately notify Appellant Bishop by letter of Mr. McMaster's suspension and failed to appropriately publish notice of the suspension pursuant to Rule 31. This directly impacted Appellant's due process rights and resulted in Mr. Bishop not knowing of the final order and judgment entered against him and not being able to obtain the appropriate judicial review of the orders and judgement. *See Ins. Co. of N. Am. v. Hyatt, 290 S.C. 159, 162, 348 S.E.2d 532, 535 (Ct. App. 1986)* ("A person against whom a judgment or order is taken without notice may rightly ignore it and may assume that no court will enforce it against his person or property.").

A. The Receiver's inaction violated the Appellant's due process rights.

While it is true that the Receiver mailed a general notice letter to Mr. Bishop at 101 Old Orangeburg Road, Lexington, SC 29072 on July 16, 2014, advising that Mr. McMaster was suspended; it is also undisputed that Mr. Bishop did not receive the notice. The Receiver received the returned letter of July 16, 2014 on July 28, 2014 and it was marked by the United States Postal Service "return to sender – not deliverable as addressed – unable to forward" with a postmark of July 23, 2014. (R. at 56) Appellant Bishop was never notified of Mr. McMaster's suspension. Importantly, the Receiver failed to notify Judge Spence of the returned mail in the emails between

he and the Court on July 31, 2014 at 4:14 pm (R.at 57) nor in the October 22, 2014 3:46 p.m. email (R.at 57), nor the email from Judge Spence on October 23, 2014 at 8:12 a.m. (R.at 57).

The Receiver further failed to comport with due process protections pursuant to Rule 31 (2) and Rule 31 (5) requiring the Receiver to notify Appellant and the Court. On July 31, 2014, when Receiver emailed the Court and Plaintiff’s counsel to say he could neither object nor consent to the proposed order affecting Defendants’ rights, he did not inform the Court that the notice letters to Defendant Blanks or Bishop were returned to him as undeliverable three days before, or that he did not attempt to mail notice letters to any other address of Mr. Bishop. Instead, the receiver merely informed the Court that he mailed the notice letters and “he has not contacted us or arranged for his file to be sent to him.” (R.at 57) Again, on October 22, 2014, when the Court contacted Receiver to check on the status of the file, Receiver did not inform the Court the notice letters were returned as undeliverable. Instead, Receiver stated “[w]e still have the Bishop file in our possession. He has not responded to our notice letter.” The Court relied on the Receiver to appropriately perform his duties under Rule 31 and perfect notice on Defendants, and the Court did not realize Receiver did not fulfill his duties until Defendants filed the instant motion.

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