RECEIVED
Feb 16 2021
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable James O. Spence, Master-in-Equity for Lexington County

Appellate Case No. 2020-000872

First Reliance Bank,..... Respondent,

v.

Charles E. Bishop, Brett D. Blanks, BCM of Lexington, LLC,
and Branch Banking and Trust Company of South Carolina Defendants,

of Whom Charles E. Bishop is the.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James Edward Bradley, SC Bar #66130
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160
ward@mttlaw.com
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENTS

1. CHARLES BISHOP IS BARRED FROM BRINGING THIS APPEAL BECAUSE HE WAITED MORE THAN FIVE YEARS TO FILE IT, AND HE KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN JUDGE SPENCE RULED ON HIS APPEAL OF THE APPRAISAL.

A notice of appeal is required to be filed within thirty (30) days from the receipt of notice of an order. SCACR 203. The Clerk is required to send orders by first class mail. SCRCP 77(d). Bishop had a hearing on the merits of the appraisal where he was represented by counsel. He then appealed that appraisal to Judge Spence where he was also represented by counsel. Judge Spence asked for memoranda from both parties with their positions on the case, which Bishop’s attorney provided. Judge Spence then asked Mr. Bradley for a proposed order, which he provided. Judge Spence then asked Mr. Bradley to serve the final order upon Mr. McMaster, Mr. Lumpkin, and the parties, including Bishop. Mr. Bradley sent the order to Mr. McMaster, Mr. Lumpkin, and the last known address of all the Defendants, including Bishop. Specifically, Mr. Bradley sent the order to Bishop’s last known address which was 628 Haskell Road, Gilbert, SC 29054.

Bishop never told anyone that he had moved, did not inform the Court of his change of address, did not contact the Supreme Court of South Carolina, never contacted the Clerk to determine what the result of his appeal of the appraisal was, and never hired an attorney to investigate what had occurred. Instead, Bishop ignored the proceeding for over five years and now

wishes to vacate Judge Spence's order by an appeal. Furthermore, Bishop participated in this case from 2011 through July 15, 2014, when Mr. McMaster was suspended from the practice of law. Bishop filed an answer, a counterclaim, participated in pre-trial discovery, the foreclosure trial, chose a member of the appraisal panel, filed an appeal of the appraisal, and called a witness at the appeal hearing of the appraisal.

Bishop relies upon *Insurance Company of North America v. Hyatt*, 290 S.C. 159, 348 S.E.2d 532 (Ct. App. 1986) for the proposition that the failure to receive notice of the order allows him to ignore the action he participated in and appeal more than five years later. However, the facts in *Hyatt* are distinct from this case. In *Hyatt*, an employee's estate filed a workers compensation claim for death benefits. Hyatt was the employee's employer at the time of his death. The employee's estate served Hyatt with notice of a hearing before a single worker's compensation commissioner, at which Hyatt appeared. The matter was then heard by the full Worker's Compensation Commission and then by the Circuit Court; however, Hyatt never appeared or participated in either of these hearings. Hyatt alleged he never received notice of the single commissioner's award or any of the later proceedings.

Here, Bishop participated in all portions of the foreclosure and appraisal process. He hired an attorney who appeared in the foreclosure and appraisal action; he then fired that attorney and retained Mr. McMaster who appeared in the appeal of the appraisal. At all times, Bishop was aware that he was a party to an action, and that Judge Spence would make a decision that would impact his rights; however, Bishop never took any affirmative steps to stay abreast of Judge Spence's decision. Furthermore, Bishop waited over five years to initiate this appeal, while Hyatt initiated an appeal within a year.

For those reasons, Bishop cannot bring this appeal because he failed to file his Notice of Appeal in a timely fashion, and any argument that Bishop was denied due process is inaccurate because he had a full and fair chance to be heard, he was represented by counsel, and he failed to take any steps whatsoever to determine the outcome of the action he was involved in.

II. EVEN IF THIS APPEAL IS TIMELY, JUDGE SPENCE WAS CORRECT TO DENY BISHOP’S APPEAL OF THE APPRAISAL.

a. Judge Spence Was Correct to Deny Bishop’s Appeal of The Appraisal Because The Board of Appraisers Considered All The Factors Required by S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-720.

South Carolina Code Section 29-3-720 sets forth the appraisal process that appraisers follow. This section requires the appraisal board to consider: (1) sale value; (2) cost and replacement value of improvements; and (3) income production. *Id.*; *See Peoples Federal Sav. and Loan Ass’n v. Myrtle Beach Retirement Group, Inc.*, 302 S.C. 223, 394 S.E.2d 849 (Ct. App. 1990). The appraisers acted in accordance with the statute because they identified and examined each of the considerations required under the statute.

The appraiser’s report specifically sets forth the property’s market value and states that it was performed in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP). *See Appraisal*. (R. pp. 39-40). In addition, Mr. Petty, the appraiser for Bishop, testified the board of appraisers considered sales value when determining the valuation of the property. (R. p. 87 [p. 19]). Mr. Petty agreed to the value and signed the report.

Next, the appraisal report sets forth the cost and replacement value of improvements, as required by the S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-720. The report states the value as follows:

Front Land (2.357):	\$200,000.00
Improvements:	\$715,000.00
FF&E:	\$100,000.00

Excess Back Land (1.753 Acres) \$ 25,000.00

(R. p. 39). The above appraisal for the cost and replacement value of improvements has not been challenged. Mr. Petty testified that the board of appraisers considered the value of improvements in determining the property's true value. (R. p. 84 [p. 7:3-19]).

Finally, the board of appraisers considered the property's potential income production. Mr. Petty's notes show that the panel considered income production. (R. p. 106).

Exhibit 3 reads:

Income- \$1,200,000.00

@ 8% occupancy = \$ 96,000.00

Cap Rate 9% = \$1,066,000.00

Mr. Petty testified these notes documented "the conclusion we came up with in our meeting." (R. p. 86 [p. 13; ll. 24-25]). Mr. Petty also testified the notes show what "I considered when I came up with my value." (R. p. 87[p.18; ll 3-6]).

Therefore, the board of appraisers considered sale value, cost and replacement value of improvements, and income production, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-720.

b. Judge Spence Was Correct to Deny Bishop's Appeal of The Appraisal Because an Alleged Mistake by a Single Member of The Appraisal Panel is Not Enough to Overturn The Opinion of The Majority of The Panel.

A mistake is grounds to reform a legal document only if it is a mutual mistake, and the complaining party shows this by clear and convincing evidence.

Before equity will reform an instrument, it must be shown by evidence which is most clear and convincing not simply that it was a mistake on the part of one of the parties but that it was a mutual mistake. *Belin v. Strikeleather*, 232 S.C. 116, 101 S.E.2d 185 (1957). A mutual mistake is one where both parties intended a certain thing and by mistake in the drafting did not get what both parties intended.

Sims v. Tyler, 276 S.C. 640, 642, 281 S.E.2d 229, 230 (1981).

Bishop's appraiser, Mr. Petty, testified he made a mistake regarding the acreage being appraised, and therefore, Bishop believes Judge Spence should have ordered a new appraisal. (R. pp. 90-91 [pp. 32:3 – 33:19]). This is despite the fact the appraisal report that Mr. Petty signed included the actual acreage as 4.11 acres, which is the correct acreage. Mr. Petty testified that he did not pay attention to the report he signed, and therefore, the Court should have ordered a new appraisal. (R. pp. 90-91 [pp:32:3 – 33:19]). The exact testimony follows:

- Q. Mr. Petty, you met with the panel, right?
A. I met with the panel. Yes, sir.
Q. And you reviewed the appraisal that you signed under oath, correct?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that was based on 4.12 acres, right?
A. I thought it was three-point-six. I didn't pay any attention to the total acreage. When Kevin came back with the letter, he had 4.1. And that's what we signed.
Q. You knew at the time that it was based off 4.1 acres.
A. No, I didn't - -
Q. Well, didn't you just - -
A. - - pay any attention.
Q. - - say Kevin said that?
A. I didn't pay any attention to the 4.1 in the letter. If I had realized that the 4.1 acres included the half acre, that I didn't think was under the ownership, I would have said, "No, wait a minute. Hold on, that's not correct."
Q. Okay. At the time, did you know it was 4.1 acres?
A. No.
Q. Did Kevin tell you it was 4.1 acres?
A. No, sir. We didn't discuss that.
Q. Well, why did you raise the thing about the 4.1 acres?
A. Why did I what?
Q. Why did you raise it - - at the time Kevin said, "It was 4.1 acres, but I wasn't paying attention"?
A. Well, he came back with the letter. And that's what was in the letter. And I didn't - -
Q. It's in the letter - -
A. You can say I didn't read it.
Q. So you didn't read the letter that said 4.1 - -
A. No, I didn't - -
Q. - - acres.

- A. -- pay attention that it was 4.1 acres.
Q. You just didn't pay attention to what you signed.
A. Right.
Q. Okay. All right.
A. Which is a mistake.

(R. pp. 90-91 [pp:32:3 – 33:19]).

In addition to a mistake on acreage, Mr. Petty also testified to a mistake on valuation:

- A. No. Well, I might have -- no, I haven't discussed any values with the other appraisers.
Q. Well, when did the value the first time, the front land was valued at \$100,000 an acre.
A. Right.
Q. Well, how come it was valued \$100,000 an acre, under oath, in February, but now it's worth \$200,000 an acre?
A. Because I felt that was worth 300,000. We can't -- collectively, we came up with 200,000.
Q. You signed under oath, that you agreed it was worth \$200,000 in February, didn't you?
A. Yeah. But my --
Q. For 2.37 acres. Right?
A. My opinion is, that this acreage right here is all that's needed for the restaurant.
Q. And it's worth about \$100,000 an acre.
A. No, I think -- I thought it was worth 300,000 --
Q. Well, why did you sign the piece of paper that said you agreed it was worth --
A. Because I --
Q. -- \$100,000 an acre?
A. -- made a mistake.
Q. Why is it worth \$200,000 an acre now, and it was only worth \$100,000 an acre a year ago?
A. Because it wasn't a full -- it wasn't a full 2.357 acres. It's less than that.
Q. Aren't you the one who wanted to add the allocation to the --
A. Yes, sir.
Q. -- return? Does your allocation say 2.357 is equal to \$200,000?
A. Because I wasn't paying attention to --
Q. No, no, that's not my question. My question is: Does the allocation say 2.357 acres is worth \$200,000?
A. Yes.

- Q. And today you're saying that number should be almost \$500,000?
A. Based on the fact I made a mistake. Yes, sir.

(R. pp. 91-92 [pp. 36:2 – 37:15]).

There was no testimony that the other appraisers made a mistake, and Bishop did not call the other appraisers to testify, even though they were in the courtroom. In addition, Mr. Petty did not testify that any fraud took place to deceive him. He simply testified that he did not review the report he signed and that he made a mistake in signing it.

While there are no reported cases in which a member of the board of appraisers disavows an appraisal he signed, South Carolina courts have held the differing opinion of a minority appraiser is not enough to invalidate the opinion of the majority of the appraisers. *See, South Carolina National Bank v. S&L Investment Partnership*, 308 S.C. 511, 419 S.E.2d 243 (1992); *First Citizens Bank and Trust Co. v. Overlook, Inc.*, 286 S.C. 473, 334 S.E.2d 146 (1985).

In *South Carolina National Bank*, the debtors attempted to invalidate the appraisal which had been agreed to by the majority of the appraisers by arguing the Court's appraiser did not consider all the statutory factors. *Id.* The debtors submitted a statement from their chosen appraiser in which the debtor's appraiser claimed the Court's appraiser believed the only relevant factor was the income production potential of the property. *Id.* The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order to not order another appraisal and noted that the other appraisers did not testify or submit affidavits.

In *First Citizens*, the Court of Appeals affirmed a majority appraisal against the challenge of the debtor. The minority appraiser testified he relied on the value of mineral deposits when he determined the value of the appraised property was \$187,500.00. The majority of the appraisers had returned a true value of \$18,000.00. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals affirmed the appraisal agreed to by two of the three appraisers.

Here, Bishop has only presented the testimony of a single appraiser, Mr. Petty. Mr. Petty testified that he no longer agrees with the appraisal report that he signed. There has been no testimony from the other two appraisers that they agree with Mr. Petty. Furthermore, Bishop had the opportunity to call the other two appraisers and chose not to. And, as the appellant of the appraisal, Mr. Bishop had the burden of proof. Assuming all of Mr. Petty's testimony is accurate, he is still a minority appraiser and has put forth no reason to invalidate a report that was agreed to by a majority of the appraisers.

Therefore, Judge Spence correctly denied Bishop's appeal of the appraisal because the appraisal panel complied with S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-720, and Bishop only provided the testimony of a single appraiser.

III. THE BANK IS NOT ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING THAT THIS APPEAL WAS FILED IN AN UNTIMELY FASHION BECAUSE THE ELEMENTS OF BOTH JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL AND EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL ARE NOT MET.

Bishop has asserted the Bank is estopped from asserting this appeal was filed in an untimely manner. Bishop first argues the doctrine of judicial estoppel should prevent First Reliance Bank from asserting the appeal was filed in an untimely fashion. The doctrine of judicial estoppel is inapplicable to this case. The doctrine of judicial estoppel is only relevant in cases where a party attempts to change its version of the facts during the process of litigation to gain an unfair advantage. *See, Hayne Federal Credit Union v. Bailey* 327 S.C. 242, 489 S.E.2d 472 (1997) (holding that South Carolina recognizes the doctrine of judicial estoppel when one party changes versions of the facts during the course of litigation).

Bishop then argues the doctrine of equitable estoppel should preclude the Bank from asserting this appeal is untimely. The doctrine of equitable estoppel also does not apply. The doctrine of equitable estoppel comprises the following elements: (1) conduct which amounts to a

false representation, or conduct which is calculated to convey the impression that the facts are otherwise than, and inconsistent with, those which the party subsequently attempts to assert; (2) the intention that such conduct shall be acted upon by the other party; and (3) actual or constructive knowledge of the real facts. The party asserting estoppel must show: (1) lack of knowledge, and the means of knowledge, of the truth as to the facts in question; (2) reliance upon the conduct of the party estopped; and (3) a prejudicial change of position in reliance on the conduct of the party being estopped. *Boyd v. Bellsouth Tel. Tel. Co., Inc.*, 369 S.C. 410, 422, 633 S.E.2d 136, 142 (2006).

Bishop has argued the doctrine of equitable estoppel precludes First Reliance Bank from asserting that his appeal was untimely filed. First, Bishop states Mr. Bradley's forwarding of Judge Spence's Order to Mr. McMaster, Mr. Lumpkin, and the last known address of Bishop is conduct which amounts to a false representation. Mr. Bradley followed the Court's directions to the best of his ability by forwarding the Court's Order to the last known address of Bishop. Therefore, Mr. Bradley's good faith following of a Court's directive is not tantamount to a false representation.

Bishop argues the second element of equitable estoppel is met because the failure to personally serve the Court's Order on Bishop **could** result in the failure of Bishop to file a Rule 59(e) motion or an appeal. However, the second element required for equitable estoppel is that the party must have acted with the intention the other party would act upon the false representation. Bishop has failed to argue the actions by the Bank and its counsel were taken with any intention that Bishop would act upon them.

Bishop argues the third element of equitable estoppel is met because the Bank and its Counsel were aware Bishop was unrepresented. However, this element is also not met. The element requires actual or constructive knowledge of the real facts. Here, the Bank never made

any representation of any fact that was not accurate; therefore, the third element is inapplicable to this case.

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